1980

# Utah Bank & Trust v. James H. Quinn and James H. Wuinn, Jr. : Brief of the Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Is a creditor precluded from recovering a deficiency judgment in a situation where the creditor fails to give notice to the debtor of the sale of collateral as required by Utah Code Annotated, Section 70A-9-504(3).
2. Was the sale of collateral by the Bank commercially reasonable.
  - a. Whether the Court erred in failing to give Defendants requested instruction relating to the elements of a commercially reasonable sale.
  - b. Whether failure to give notice makes the sale unreasonable as a matter of law.

3. Whether it is lawful for the jury to fail to award damages after the Court has held as a matter of law that the Defendants were not given adequate notice as required by Section 70A-9-504(3) of the Utah Code.

4. Whether as a matter of law, the Defendant James H. Quinn is entitled to a remittitur on the damages down to the amount of the original guarantee signed by him because of failure of consideration for the agreement signed on December 23, 1977.

5. Did the Court err in failing to grant the Defendant's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or in the alternative, for a remittitur and a new trial?

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Appellant James H. Quinn, Jr. (Jay Quinn) was the President of an automobile dealership business in Salt Lake City, Utah, known as Alpine-Rennsport. The flooring and financing for the dealership was supplied by the Plaintiff Utah Bank & Trust, a Utah corporation, who is the Plaintiff-Respondent in this action. Dr. James H. Quinn signed a continuing guarantee with the Plaintiff Bank which guarantee provided that he would assume responsibility for the debts of the corporation up to the amount of \$180,000. (See Defendants' Exhibit 6D, Tr. page 98.)

On or about the 23rd day of December, 1977, the Defendant dealership was out of trust and the two Defendants met with Mr. Cook and Mr. Atwood of the Plaintiff Bank to discuss the situation. At that meeting, the officers of the Bank, specifically Mr. Cook, presented a note for the Defendants to sign. The Defendants signed the note. (Tr. page 11.) The purpose of the meeting was to work out a solution to the financial problems of the business. The note for

\$198,270.00 was signed at that time to bring together all of the debts of Defendant Jay Quinn, Jr., and of the business. The note included \$8,500.00 of a personal note of Jay Quinn and the flooring debts of the business including an advance made to the business of \$40,400.00. (Tr. pages 18-19). At the time of the meeting, the Bank had repossessed the collateral which secured their notes for the business. The collateral was in the hands of the Bank at that time. (Tr. page 12). At the meeting, there were discussions regarding how the debts owed to the Bank would be paid. It was the general consensus of the parties at that meeting that the collateral which had been pledged on the notes would be sold and that any deficiency which existed would be paid by the Defendants. It was understood that the cars would be sold with the assistance of Jay Quinn, Jr. who had some specialized knowledge in the field of marketing exotic and specialty high performance cars. (Tr. 98-100, 118). The cars, which in fact had been repossessed by the Bank, were sold for the sum of \$67,000. The sum of \$67,000 was substantially below the amount which was listed as the value of the cars on the flooring agreement. (Tr. 166-67). The wholesale flooring cost of the cars was \$102,816.66. (Tr. 167). All of the cars repossessed by the Bank were sold in the Salt Lake area after having been advertised only in the Salt Lake area papers. (Tr. 49-50). Mr. Cook, the Bank officer who handled the transaction, admitted that he knew nothing about the sale of exotic or specialized cars. (Tr. 51). Mr. Cook further admitted that no notice of the sales was given to either of the Defendants. (Tr. 47). The Court, in fact, held as a matter of law and instructed the jury, that the notice required under Section 70A-9-504(3) of the Utah Code had not been given to the Defendants.

Three people testified at the trial who had knowledge of the proper methods to obtain the highest price and properly market an exotic or specialty car. They were the Plaintiff's witness, Mr. Aagaard, the Defendants' witnesses Mr. Pellum, and the Defendant Jay Quinn, Jr. There was unanimous agreement among all three of the expert witnesses with regard to the proper and reasonable method of selling an exotic or specialty car. It was stated, that to reach the proper market and to get the best, but not necessarily the highest, price for a car, someone attempting to sell an exotic or specialty car would have to go outside of the State of Utah. (Tr. 80-81, 131.)

The Court allowed Mr. Aagaard, Plaintiff's witness, to be qualified as an expert witness regarding the proper method of sale for exotic and specialty cars. He had 6 years experience in the used car business and minimal exposure to the exotic car business market. Aagaard had no training of any type from any person or any dealership in the proper method of selling and marketing specialty or exotic cars. Over the Defendants' objection, Mr. Aagaard was allowed to testify that in his opinion, the Plaintiff had obtained a fair price for the vehicles. However, on cross-examination, Mr. Aagaard admitted that he was a one-man operation. (Tr. 75), that he had no training or experience in the exotic or specialty car market, and that he had taught himself the operation (Tr. 76); that in six years he had handled approximately five Ferraris which would be less than one per year, and that the exotic and specialty cars of the type we are concerned with in this case, have a national market. (Tr. 78-81). Mr. Aagaard testified that in his attempts to sell the cars repossessed by the Bank, he had advertised only in the Salt Lake papers. (Tr. 78). He admitted that the specialty car market was on a national level, and that in his opinion,

the best place to advertise the sale of a specialty or exotic car is in a specialty publication such as Auto Week (Tr. 80-81). He also testified that there would be a better market than Utah for the cars in Phoenix, Los Angeles, and San Francisco, and that any large city would have a better market for these cars than Utah (Tr. 80-81). Yet Mr. Aagaard failed to advertise the cars in any of these other areas (Tr. 81). In fact, Mr. Aagaard testified as follows:

"Q: As a matter of fact, almost any of the larger cities surrounding Utah would be a better place to sell an exotic foreign car than Salt Lake City, isn't that true?

A: Yes. If that's where your location was.

Q: But you didn't advertise in any of these cities, did you?

A: No." (Tr. 81-82.)

Mr. Ray Pellum was called to testify by the Defendants. Mr. Pellum testified that he was the sales manager at Bavarian Italian Motors in Salt Lake City (Tr. 123). Mr. Pellum testified that people who buy specialty cars don't go to a regular car dealer to buy them. (Tr. 124). Mr. Pellum indicated that he had been in the used car business for 18 years and that Bavarian Italian Motors does have some dealings in exotic or specialty cars. (Tr. 124). He indicated that he had been trained in these cars through on-the-job training at the dealership because "it's a different field than just the average and domestic cars." (Tr. 124). Mr. Pellum testified that the reasonable steps which he felt a person should follow to market an exotic car were as follows:

1. Make calls out of state to dealers who specialize in exotic cars.
2. To advertise in out of state papers such as the Los Angeles Times or other large city papers, and
3. To advertise in the trade and specialty journals such as Auto Week, (Tr. 125-126).

Mr. Pellum was asked the following question:

"Q: If I wanted to sell a specialty car and obtain the best possible price, would you confine advertising of that car to the local Salt Lake newspapers?

A: No.

Q: Would you, in fact, advertise in the local Salt Lake papers?

A: Well, you might advertise in Salt Lake papers, but you would try to advertise, like I said, the Los Angeles paper and maybe the Denver paper. You have got to get -- there are not that many people for that kind of car. So you have really got to put it out where the people are.

Q: In your opinion, would it be a reasonable method of selling the car to confine your advertising to the Salt Lake papers?

Mr. Forbes: Your Honor, I object to that. Reasonable I think, is an ultimate conclusion.

Mr. Wells: Your Honor, he is an expert.

The Court: Overruled. He can answer.

Q by Mr. Wells: Do you feel that it would be a reasonable method of marketing an exotic car to advertise only in the Salt Lake papers?

A: No." (Tr. 127-128).

On re-direct examination, Mr. Pellum further testified that a person would have to go out of state to really get a market for the type of exotic or foreign cars that we are dealing with in this situation. (Tr. 131 at 15-17).

Mr. Jay Quinn, the co-Defendant, testified that the entire business of the dealership in which he was involved was the marketing, selling and buying of used high performance specialty, classical and exotic automobiles. (Tr. 132). He further testified that the market for these cars was on a national level,

and that he went all over the country buying and selling these cars. (Tr. 132-134). Mr. Quinn testified that most of his advertising of these vehicles was carried about in national publications, such as Road & Track magazine and Auto Week. (Tr. 134-135). He testified that he was presently employed as the sales manager of a dealership in Arizona which sold a lot of foreign and exotic specialty cars, and that his present employer advertised heavily in the national publications such as Auto Week and Road & Track. (Tr. 135). Mr. Quinn further testified that he had banking experience, having worked for the Continental Bank in Salt Lake City, from 1968 through 1970, where he held positions of head teller, vault teller and assistant branch manager. (Tr. 135-136). Having had experience as a banker, Mr. Quinn then explained what was meant by the floor plan arrangement and how it worked and Mr. Quinn testified that the price that a bank loans on a floor plan arrangement was generally a liquidation price. (Tr. 137). Mr. Quinn testified that the floor value of the vehicles repossessed by the Bank was \$102,816.66, and that in his opinion, the actual value of those vehicles was \$128,465.00. (Tr. 167). Mr. Quinn testified that the amount at which the vehicles were floored, (see Defendants' Exhibit 11D), was the reasonable liquidation value of those vehicles. (Tr. 166). Mr. Quinn testified further that if he had had actual notice of the sales, a higher price could have been obtained for all of the exotic and specialty cars. He testified that, in fact, the bank had refused to allow the Ferrari to go to Arizona where a higher price than the price realized by the Bank could have been obtained. (Tr. 216).

The Bank, in fact, sold the repossessed automobiles for approximately \$67,000, and applied the equity of the sale of Mr. Jay Quinn's home to the



note, leaving the Bank with a balance owing as of September, 1979, of \$148,387.1 including interest. The amount owed to the Bank before the application of interest was \$132,228.61. (Tr. 41). Therefore, having applied the equity of Mr. Quinn's home and the sales price of all of the vehicles sold by the Bank, the Bank had only reduced the amount of the loan some \$66,000, an amount which is less than one-half of what Mr. Quinn, Jr. felt was the reasonable value of the vehicles which were repossessed.

After having sold the collateral and applied the proceeds to the note, the Bank then sued the Defendants for the deficiency.

The Bank claims that the Defendants are indebted for a deficiency judgment in the amount of \$148,387.61. The Defendants claim that since the Bank failed to give notice and allow the Defendants to protect the purchase price of the collateral vehicles which were sold, that the Bank is not entitled to recover any deficiency or if a deficiency is allowed, that the deficiency should be limited to the sum of \$45,700.00, which amount would cover the difference between what the Defendants feel the vehicles could reasonably have been sold for, and the amount for which the Bank actually sold the vehicles.

#### ARGUMENT

THE FAILURE OF THE PLAINTIFF BANK TO GIVE NOTICE OF THE SALE OF COLLATERAL TO THE DEFENDANTS AS REQUIRED BY UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, SECTION 70A-9-504(3) PRECLUDES THE PLAINTIFF BANK FROM RECOVERING ANY DEFICIENCY JUDGMENT FROM THE DEFENDANTS.

In the present case, the Court found as a matter of law, that the Plaintiff Bank had not given the notice required of Utah Code Ann., Section 70A-9-504(3), regarding the sale of collateral. This Honorable Court, in the case of F.M.A. Financial Corporation v. Pro Printers, 590 P.2d 803, 806-807



(Utah, 1979), held "in an action for a deficiency judgment such as this, the secured party has the burden of establishing that the disposition of the property was done in a commercially reasonable manner, and that reasonable notice to the debtors was given." (Emphasis added) A secured party under the F.M.A. case to be entitled to a deficiency judgment, has the burden of proving two elements: First, that reasonable notice of the sale of collateral was given to the debtors, and second, that the collateral was disposed of in a commercially reasonable manner. Conversely, the failure of the secured party to establish either of these elements would mean that the secured party has failed to sustain the burden of proof required and that they cannot be awarded a deficiency judgment. See Chrysler Credit Corporation v. Burns, 562 P.2d 233 (Utah, 1977); First National Bank of Bellview v. Rose, 197 Neb. 392, 249 N.W.2d 723 (1977); First National Bank & Trust Company of Enid v. Holston, 559 P.2d 440 (Okla., 1977). As the Court observed in the F.M.A. case, supra, the purpose of the notice requirement is to protect the debtor by permitting him to bid at the sale or to arrange for interested parties to bid or to assure otherwise that the sale is conducted in a commercially reasonable manner. This notice requirement further inures to the benefit of the secured party by the debtor's assistance in securing a higher sale price. The precise danger, identified by the Supreme Court in the F.M.A. case, when the secured party fails to give notice, is that the property may be sold for an amount unreasonably below its market value, burdening the debtor with liability for a greater deficiency. That precise danger, which the notice requirement was designed to prevent, has occurred in this case. The uncontroverted testimony in this case is that the amount loaned by the Bank

on the flooring arrangement is a wholesale price. That it is a price which is designed to protect the Bank and a price at which the vehicles could be easily liquidated. (Tr. 53, 62, 137.) Mr. Cook, the Bank officer who conducted the sales testified that he had no knowledge about the method or business of selling exotic foreign or specialty cars. (Tr. 47.) Mr. Jay Quinn testified that the amount for which the vehicles were floored were the reasonable liquidation prices of the vehicles. (Tr. 166) and that the vehicles were worth a minimum of \$102,816.66 (Tr. 167.) Mr. Quinn further testified that in his opinion with some effort on behalf of the party trying to make the sale of the vehicles, they could have been sold for \$128,465.00. (Tr. 167.) Where the Defendant has testified without contradiction that in his opinion the vehicles could have brought as much as \$128,465.00, and where the Bank, which had no experience in the marketing of this specialty type of automobile, sold the vehicles for approximately \$67,00 without giving notice to the Defendants of the sales or the amount of the sales, and where the uncontradicted testimony of all of the witnesses is such that the only way to reasonably market the vehicles is to go out of state and advertise in the national publications, it is clear that the Defendants were damaged by the failure to give notice. The only tenable conclusion in this case is that the failure of Plaintiff to give proper notice caused the property to be sold at a price substantially below what could have been obtained had the cars been marketed in a commercially reasonable manner and had the Defendants been allowed to come in and protect their interests by having proper notice. Plaintiff's failure to give notice to Defendants effectively prevented them from assuring that the sale be conducted in a commercially reasonable manner. In the case

of Delay First National Bank & Trust Company v. Jacobson, 19 U.C.C. Rep. 994, 998-99 (Neb., 1976), the Nebraska Supreme Court stated that "compliance with the Uniform Commercial Code for notification as to the disposition of collateral is a condition precedent to the secured creditor's right to recover a deficiency." Since the Utah Supreme Court in the F.M.A. case has relied in support of its decision on some Nebraska cases, it is interesting that the Nebraska Court has held that absent notice to the debtor of the sale, the creditor cannot recover a deficiency judgment. In the Delay case, *id.* the Court further stated:

".. we now hold that if a creditor wishes a deficiency judgment, he must comply with the law in each transaction. While this rule may seem harsh, we are persuaded by the fact that the burden is on the secured creditor to comply with the law. The act is framed in his interest. It is not onerous to require him to observe the provisions of the law. .." *Id.* at 1004.

The Nebraska Supreme Court stated further:

"this is an action to recover a deficiency judgment, after the sale or disposition of the property taken by Bank under its security instruments. It is controlled by the rule enunciated in Bank of Gering v. Glover, 192 Neb. 575, 223 N.W.2d 56, (1974). We there said, 'compliance with the Uniform Commercial Code for notification as to the disposition of collateral is a condition precedent to a secured creditor's right to recover a deficiency.'" 19 U.C.C. Rep. at 998-99.

The Nebraska Rule is clear. Unless the creditor gives notice of the sale to the debtor as required by 9-504(3) of the Uniform Commercial Code, the creditor cannot recover a deficiency judgment. The Court stated that the reason for this rule is that

"obviously it (the notice provision) is intended for the benefit and protection of the debtor. If he is given notice, he will have at least an opportunity to protect his interests by redemption, finding prospective purchasers for the property, or otherwise. Even if it might be determined he could not have protected his interest, the law requires he be given the opportunity."

Id. at 999. The Nebraska Rule, "no notice-no deficiency," appears to be the majority rule in the United States.<sup>1</sup>

It would also appear from the F.M.A. case, supra, that the Utah Supreme Court has adopted the majority rule wherein it is held that unless the creditor gives notice to the debtor as required by the Uniform Commercial Code, the creditor cannot recover a deficiency.

---

<sup>1</sup> Delay First National Bank & Trust Co. v. Jacobson Appliance Co., supra; Turk v. St. Petersburg Bank & Trust Co., 281 S.2d 534, 13 U.C.C. Rep. 383 (Fla., 1973); First National Bank & Trust Company of Enid v. Holston, supra; Wells Fargo Bank v. Carter, 16 U.C.C. Rep. 874 (oth Cir., 1975); One Twenty Credit Union v. Darcy, 5 U.C.C. Rep. 792 (Mass. App. Div., 1968); First National Bank of Bellview v. Rose, supra; Wheless v. Eudora Bank, 256 Ark. S.Ct. 644, 14 U.C.C. Rep. 1068 (1974); Foster v. Knutson, 527 P.2d 1108, 15 U.C.C. Rep. 1127 (Wash., 1974); Beneficial Finance Co. of Black hawk County v. Reed, 212 N.W.2d 454, 13 U.C.C. Rep. 974 (1973); Braswell v. American National Bank, 117 Ga. App. 699, 161 S.E.2d 420 (1968); Babber v. Williams Ford Co., 239 Ark. 1054, 396 S.W.2d 302 (1965); Atlas Thrift Co. v. Horan, 27 Cal. App. 3rd 999, 104 Ca. Rep. 315, (1972); Commercial Credit Corp. v. Lloyd, 12 U.C.C. Rep. 15 (D.D.C., 1973); Camden National Bank v. St. Clair, 309 A.2d 329 (Maine, 1973); Leasco Data Processing Equipment Corporation v. Atlas Shirt Co., 323 N.Y.2d 13 (1971); Cities Service Oil Co. v. Ferris, 9 U.C.C. Rep. 899 (D. Mich., 1971); Skeels v. Universal C.I.T. Credit Corp., 222 F.Supp. 696 (D. Penn., 1963); vacat on other grounds, 335 F.2d 846 (3rd Cir., 1964); Aimonetto v. Keepes, 501 P.2d 1017 (Wyo., 1973); Dynalectron Corp. v. Jack Richards Aircraft Co., 337 F.Supp. 659 (W.D. Okla., 1972); Prairie Vista, Inc. v. Cassella, 12 Ill. App. 3rd 34, 297 N.E.2d 385 (1973); Mallicoat v. Volunteer Finance & Loan Corp., 57 Tenn. App. 106, 415 S.W.2d 347 (1966); Leasing Associates, Inc. v. Slaughter & Son, Inc., 450 F.2d 174 (8th Cir., 1971); In Re Carter, 511 F.2d 1203 (9th Cir., 1975)

In the case of Chrysler Credit Corp v. Burns, supra, the Court specifically held as follows:

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