1980

Utah Bank & Trust v. James H. Quinn and James H. Wuinn, Jr. : Brief of the Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

In December 1977, the corporation sold some of the cars out of trust in that they, upon receiving the sales price from various cars, failed to pay any of the proceeds to the bank. (Tr. 13, 219) The amount that was sold out of trust was in the sum of \$57,500.00. (Tr. 220)

On December 17, 1977, Mr. George Cook, Branch Manager of plaintiff, after notifying Jay Quinn and others, repossessed the car inventory of the corporation—which consisted of thirteen cars. A boat was also repossessed. (Tr. 12, 22) Two of the cars were returned to Jay Quinn so that he could trade them in on a car for his personal use. (Tr. 22)

On December 23, 1977, Cook and Mr. M. H. Atwood, Executive Vice-President of the plaintiff, met with Jay Quinn and Dr. Quinn to discuss the matter. At this time the following pertinent events occurred:

—The Defendants signed a Promissory Note in the amount of \$198,240.00 payable April 21, 1978. (Tr. 18, 19) The amount of the note was based upon the following:

\$ 41,400.00	Dishonored check given to bank to pay for a bank wire. (Tr. 19, 20)
8,500.00	Personal loan (Tr. 19)

57,500.00	Amount sold out of trust. (Tr. 220)
90,840.00	Remaining amount of flooring obligation.
<u>\$198,240.00</u>	

—All present discussed the matter of disposition of the automobiles and boat. Jay Quinn indicated that he had a number of friends that were car dealers and he preferred that the cars be placed with one or more of them for sale. (Tr. 22, 86) It was mutually decided that the automobiles be sold through local car dealers.

—Jay Quinn pledged his interest in a house, by way of an Assignment of Real Estate Contract, as security for the note.

—There was a discussion and understanding among the parties that there would be a deficiency even after applying the sales proceeds of the collateral. There was some mention by Dr. Quinn that he would sell some property in Texas to cover the remaining deficiency. (Tr. 86)

Shortly after the December 23, 1977, meeting the parties undertook to sell the cars and the boat. With respect to the efforts to do so, these pertinent events transpired:

—A few days after the December 23 meeting, Jay Quinn called George Cook and informed him that he had made arrangements with Dewey Wood Motors to display and sell some of the cars on their lot. (Tr. 22) Accordingly, seven of the eleven cars were moved to the Dewey Wood Motors' lot. One car was sold. (Tr. 23)

—The cars were thereafter moved to other lots in order to obtain better prices. (Tr. 24)

—Jay Quinn left for Arizona shortly after December 23 and was there until approximately January 2, 1978. He was in Arizona during some of January 1978 and moved to Arizona finally in February 1978. (Tr. 198)

—There were a number of expenditures for repairs of the cars to make them ready for sale. The cars were all used and in less than top condition. (Tr. 68-74)

—At the time the boat was picked up it was reported by Jay Quinn that it had been winterized. (Tr. 35) Jay Quinn's manager also verified that Jay Quinn reported to him that the boat was prepared for winter. (Tr. 211)

—At the time the boat was being prepared for sale, it was noticed that there was a cracked block.

—The boat was advertised for sale in the newspaper on three different occasions and by word of mouth. (Tr. 33) Plaintiff received many phone calls and much interest was shown concerning the boat. The boat was sold on March 26, 1979, for \$3,000.00 as is; which was based upon the highest offer given.

—By way of recapitulation the cars were sold as follows:

Date (1978)	Description	Automobile Dealer Location of Sale	Amount
Jan. 19	1975 Ford Granada	Dewey Wood Motors	\$ 1,500.00
Feb. 17	1973 Jaguar	Aagaard Motors	8,500.00
Mar. 13	1973 Porshe	Ride-a-Way Motors	7,600.00
Mar. 21	1975 Ferrari	Aagaard Motors	13,500.00
Mar. 21	1974 Audi	Ride-a-Way Motors	2,500.00
Mar. 21	1975 Porshe	Aagaard Motors	11,500.00
Apr. 25	1975 Alfa Romeo	Aagaard Motors	4,500.00
May 5	1973 Porshe	Aagaard Motors	7,100.00
June 20	1975 Toyota P/U	R. Kingsland*	2,600.00
June 27	1973 BMW	Aagaard Motors	2,500.00
July 13	1973 BMW	Aagaard Motors	3,000.00

*R. Kingsland was not a car dealer but an individual who purchased the car after reading an ad in the newspaper.

—Jay Quinn acquired a buyer for the house which was pledged as security, and the house was sold on March 27, 1978. The net equity realized from the sale of the house was in the amount of \$23,854.60 which was applied to the reduction of the note. (Tr. 37, Ex. 17-P)

—After applying the proceeds from the sale of all of the cars, the boat, and the house to the promissory note and adding appropriate interest, the balance due as of September 5, 1979, was in the amount of \$148,387.61. (Tr. 41, Ex. 17-P)

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE FAILURE OF THE PLAINTIFF TO GIVE NOTICE OF THE SALE OF THE COLLATERAL DOES NOT PRECLUDE THE PLAINTIFF FROM OBTAINING A DEFICIENCY JUDGMENT.

At trial the court held as a matter of law that the Plaintiff did not give Defendants written notice of the sale of the collateral. As previously indicated, the collateral was repossessed on December 17, 1977. On December 23, 1977, both of the defendants met with representatives of the bank during which time a discussion was held concerning disposition of the collateral. It was suggested by Jay Quinn, and there was a consensus among the parties, that the automobiles should be sold by display on used car lots. Seven of the automobiles were originally displayed on the Dewey Wood's car lot at the initial suggestion of Jay Quinn. All but one of the automobiles were sold on used car lots after display.

The jury found as fact by way of special verdicts the following:

PROPOSITION NO. 1

Was the disposition of the collateral by Utah Bank & Trust made in a commercially reasonable manner? Yes.

PROPOSITION NO. 3

The court has instructed you that the plaintiff failed to give written notice to the defendants of the proposed sale of the collateral. Please answer the following: What loss, if any, was caused to the defendants by the failure to give notice of the sale of the collateral?

Amount: None.

Statutory references applicable to this case are from the Uniform Commercial Code, Title 70 A, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended:

70 A-1-106. Remedies to be Liberally Administered.

(1) The remedies provided by this act shall be *liberally administered* to the end that the aggrieved party may be put in as good a position as if the other party had fully performed but neither consequential or *special nor penal damages* may be had except as specifically provided in this act or by other rule of law. (Emphasis added)

70 A-9-501. Default

(3) To the extent that they give rights to the debtor and impose liabilities on the secured party, the rule stated in the subsections referred to below may not be waived or varied except

as provided with respect to compulsory disposition of collateral (subsections (1) of Section 70 A-9-505) and with respect to redemption of collateral (Sections 70 A-905(6) *but the parties may by agreement determine the standards by which the fulfillment of these rights and duties is to be measured if such standards are not manifestly unreasonable.* (Emphasis added)

70A-9-504. Secured Parties Right to Dispose of Collateral After Default—Effective Disposition

(2) If the security interest secures an indebtedness, the secured party must account to the debtor for any surplus, and, unless otherwise agreed, the debtor is liable for any deficiency. (3) Disposition of the collateral may be by public or private proceedings and may be made by way of one or more contracts. Sale or other disposition may be as a unit or in parcels and at any time and place and on any terms, but every aspect of the disposition including the method, manner, time, place and terms must be commercially reasonable. Unless collateral is perishable or threatens to decline speedily in value or is of a type customarily sold on a recognized market, reasonable notification of the time and place of any public sale or reasonable notification of the time after which any private sale or other intended disposition is to be made shall be sent by the secured party to the debtor, if he has not signed after default a statement renouncing or modifying his right to notification of sale . . .

70A-9-507. Secured Parties Liability for Failure to Comply With This Part.

(1) If it is established that the secured party is not proceeding in accordance with the provisions of this part, disposition may be ordered or restrained on appropriate terms and conditions. If the disposition has occurred, the debtor or any person entitled to notification or whose security interest has been made known to the secured party prior to the disposition has a right to recover from the secured party any loss caused by a failure to comply with the provisions of this part . . .

(2) The fact that a better price could have been obtained by a sale at a different time or in a different method from that selected by the secured party is not of itself sufficient to establish that the sale was not made in a commercially reasonable manner. If the secured party either sells the collateral in the usual manner in any recognized market therefor, or if he sells at the price current in such market at the time of the sale, or if he has otherwise sold in conformity with reasonable commercial prac-

tices among dealers in type of property sold he has sold in a commercially manner . . .

In dealing with the question of whether a creditor is entitled to a deficiency judgment after having sold the collateral without notice to the debtor there is a split of authority.

Some jurisdictions hold that failure to give notice to the debtor of the sale of the collateral constitutes an absolute bar to a deficiency judgment. The state jurisdictions that have so held are California, Florida, Georgia, Maine, Nebraska. There are cases that have also held in Iowa, Illinois, and New York. However, in these last three jurisdictions there are also other cases that have allowed a deficiency judgment.

In an analysis of the cases of these jurisdictions that do not allow a deficiency judgment the following reasons have been given: (1) Solution to the question is found in Pre-Code Law where under comparable circumstances a deficiency judgment was denied. See *Skeels v. Universal C.I.T. Credit Corp.* 222 F. Supp. 696 (W.D. Pa. 1963). (2) Several state statutes contain provisions denying deficiency judgments when notice of the resale is not given: See: White, *Representing the Low-Income Consumer In Repossession, Resales, and Deficiency Judgment Cases*, 3 UCC L. J. 224. (3) Deficiency judgments have not been allowed where the secured transactions is in the form of an installment sale contract, particularly where the contract did not provide for a deficiency judgment.

Other jurisdictions permit a recovery of a deficiency judgment even though notice is not given by the creditor to the debtor of the disposition of the collateral. The following jurisdictions have so held:

- Alaska: Kobuk Engineering and Contract Services, Inc., v. Superior Tank & Construction Co.—Alaska Inc., 22 UCC Reporting Service 854
- Arkansas: Universal CIT Credit Company v. Rone, 453 S.W. 2d 37, (1970)
- Colorado: Community Management Assoc. of Colo. Springs v. Tousley (1973) 11 UCC Reporting Service 1101

Conn.:	Savings Bank of New Britian v. Booze, (1977) 23 UCC Reporting Service 556
Del.:	Ruston v. Shea (1976) 22 UCC Reporting Service 274
Kansas:	Barbour v. United States 22 UCC Reporting Serv- ice 850
Illinois:	Tauber v. Johnson (1972) 22 N. E. 2d 180
Indiana:	Hall v. Owen State Bank (1977) 23 UCC Re- porting Service 267
Iowa:	Beneficial Financing Company of Black Hawk County v. Reed (1973), 212 N.W. 2d 454
Nevada:	Levers v. Real King Land & Investment Co. (1977) 21 UCC Reporting Service 344
N. Mex.:	Clark Leasing Corp. v. White Sands Forrest Products, Inc. (1975) 87 N.M. 451, 535 P. 2d 1077
N. Y.:	Security Trust Company of Rochester v. Thomas (1977) 22 UCC Reporting Service 1305
Wash.:	Merchants Leasing Company v. Clark (1975) 14 Wash. app. 317

From the jurisdictions allowing a deficiency judgment as noted above, there has emerged a number of distinct positions regarding the effect of a failure to notify. Some courts suggest that Section 9-507 of the Uniform Commercial Code (*supra.*) which provides that the debtor has the right to recover from the secured party any loss occasioned by a failure to comply with the provisions relating to the disposition of collateral is a sole, sufficient and adequate remedy. In *The Merchants Leasing Co. v. Clark* 14 Wash. App. 317, 540 P. 2d 922 (1975) the court held that the creditor did not lose his right to a deficiency judgment against the debtor by selling the repossessed equipment without giving notice, but the debtor would be entitled to have any damages caused to them by such lack of notice credited against the deficiency judgment.

There are other jurisdictions that hold that a denial of the de-

ficiency judgment deprives the secured party to be put in as good a position as if the other party had fully performed. See: 409 *Ore. L. Rev.* 65, 69 (1969).

Still other jurisdictions, such as Arkansas, announce the rule that failure to give notice does not result in a bar to a deficiency judgment but creates a presumption that the collateral was worth at least the amount of the debt—that the burden is then placed on the secured party to prove what would have been realized from a commercially reasonable sale. If the secured party is unable to overcome the presumption, he recovers no deficiency. If the presumption is rebutted by the secured party proving the amount which would have been realized from a commercially reasonable sale, such amount forms the basis for computing the deficiency which the secured party will be allowed. See *Norton v. National Bank of Commerce*, 240, Ark. 143, 398 S.W. 2d 538 (1966).

The no deficiency rule has been criticized by a number of law review articles. In *Valparaiso University Law Review*, Vol. 7, 1973 p. 474 it is stated:

The Code must function on the theory that the overwhelming number of commercial transactions are executed in good faith, and this assumption is most likely accurate. In those relatively few instances in which the secured party, for what ever reason, has failed to comply with section 9-504 (3) notice requirements, it is better to adopt a flexible standard which would allow the secured party to be made whole and yet which would protect the debtor on a case-by-case basis. This protection is already afforded by 9-507: Such protection does not require an additional judicially created penalty denying the secured party's right to a deficiency judgment.

In *University of Colorado Law Review*, Vol. 44, 1972, p. 230 it is stated:

The absolute defense approach produces a result which goes beyond compensating the debtor for his loss and thus seems to penalize the creditor. The debtor is relieved of the deficiency under this approach without even showing the loss. This would seem inconsistent with the Code's policy against punitive damages since it may place the debtor in a better

position than he would have been had the creditor met the requirements, all at the creditor's expense.

In *Utah Law Review*, Vol. 3, 1979 at p. 580 it is stated:

From the debtor's standpoint an automatic denial of a deficiency judgment for failure to notify is preferable to producing evidence of what would have happened had he been notified or to proving the damage sustained through being denied the right to redeem. This recognition merely exposes the major shortcoming of the no deficiency rule. It creates a great potential for giving the debtor an undeserved remedy, thereby imposing a penalty on the secured party, and undermining the U.C.C.'s announced policy against windfalls and penalties. The realization that the no deficiency rule applies indiscriminately to even inadvertant or accidental omissions to notify only magnified the inadequacy of that position.

This jurisdiction has decided a number of cases in which the matter of giving notice to the debtor was at issue. In *Zion's First National Bank v. Hurst*, 570 P. 2d 1031 (Utah 1977) the secured creditor, Zion's First National Bank, sued the defendant to recover \$50,000.00, the amount of a Guaranty Agreement which the defendant had executed. The plaintiff's loan was secured by collateral which included five airplanes. The airplanes were sold and realized the sum of \$72,500.00, which was applied to the total debt of \$250,893.20, leaving a deficiency of \$178,393.00. The extent of the defendant's guarantee was in the amount of \$50,000.00. On appeal the defendant alleged that the plaintiff did not notify him of the time and place of the sale of the five airplanes and thus urged that the plaintiff should be precluded from obtaining any deficiency judgment against him. Although the matter of notice was not raised in the pleadings, the court stated in disposing of this issue:

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